Appeal No. 23-CV-0976

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

ASEGEDECH KELECHA

Clerk of the Court Received 06/19/2024 03:15 PM Filed 06/19/2024 03:15 PM

Appellant

V.

SARA MENGHESHA

Appellee

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia (Judge Danya Dayson)

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Richard E. Schimel, Esq.
D.C. Bar No. 273193

Law Offices of Richard E Schimel, LLC
7315 Wisconsin Avenue
Suite 800 West - Bethesda Crossing
Bethesda, Maryland 20814-3244
(240) 395-4400

rschimel@lawofficesres.com

Attorney for Appellant

PARTIES AND COUNSEL

Party	Counsel
Asegedech Kelecha	Richard E. Schimel, Esq. * 7315 Wisconsin Avenue Suite 800 West Bethesda, Maryland 20814 (240) 395-4400

Issues Presented for Review

- 1. When a juror notifies the Court post-verdict that she did not agree to the announced verdict, thereby indicating that there was not a unanimous verdict, does the affected litigant have the right to require the voir dire of that juror and/or the jury foreperson to establish a potential basis for a Motion for New Trial?
- 2. Was there sufficient evidence presented at trial to satisfy the clear and convincing standard to establish the requisite malice to support a claim for punitive damages?
- 3. Did the punitive damage award which was ten times the amount of the compensatory damages award violate the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment?

Statement of the Case

Asegedech Kelecha ("Kelecha") owns rental property located at 2013 4th St., N.E., Washington, D.C. In February of 2019 she rented a room to Sara Menghesha ("Menghesha"). Menghesha filed a Complaint on May 7, 2020, and an Amended Complaint on June 10, 2020, alleging that Kelecha wrongfully evicted her from her rented room at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. [21-24].

The first count of the Amended Complaint alleged that on or about May l, 2020 Kelecha removed all of her belongings from the premises, changed the locks, and failed to provide her with a key to either the premises or to her room in the

premises, thus preventing her from accessing the leased property. Kelecha filed her Answer on July 7, 2020. [25-26].

On February 16, 2022, the Court granted Plaintiffs unopposed motion for summary judgment as to liability on the claim for wrongful eviction on the record. [68-72]. Prior to trial, the parties narrowed the issues further, with Plaintiff dismissing her additional claim for violation of the implied warranty of habitability, and Defendant dismissing her Counterclaim for non-payment of rent.

The Court held a jury trial on December 12-14, 2022 on the issues of compensatory and punitive damages for the claim of wrongful eviction. The trial court instructed the jury at the conclusion of the evidence late in the afternoon on December 13, 2022. [325-330]. Those instructions specified that the jury's verdict was required to be unanimous, and that the jurors were required to consult with each other "in an attempt to reach a unanimous verdict." [339-340]. Given the hour, the Court excused the jurors for the evening with instructions that they should report back and that at "9:30 [a.m.], as soon as all of you are present, you can begin your deliberations." [341]. At 4:49 pm, after the Court had excused the jury, the Court, through the Clerk, received the following note: "Jury has one member who has made a decision and at least one other jury member who does not agree." [376].

The Court read the note to counsel the next morning. [343]. Counsel and the Court engaged in a colloquy regarding how to respond to the note. [343-362]. After

consulting with counsel, the trial judge brought the jury back into the courtroom and gave the following instruction:

Jurors have a duty to deliberate with each other with an open mind. So, in a moment, I'm going to dismiss you, but I'm going to reiterate this portion of the instruction that I gave you yesterday. The verdicts must represent the considered judgment of each juror. In order to return a verdict, your verdict must be unanimous. That is, each juror must agree to the verdict. Each of you has a duty to consult with other jurors in an attempt to reach a unanimous verdict. You must decide this case for yourself and you should not surrender your honest belief about the affect or weight of evidence merely to return a verdict or solely because of other jurors' opinions. However, you should seriously consider the views of your fellow jurors just as you expect them to seriously consider your views. You should not hesitate to change an opinion if you are convinced by other jurors. Remember that you are not advocates but neutral judges of the facts. You'll make an important contribution to the cause of justice if you arrive at a just verdict in this case. Therefore, during your deliberations, your purpose should not to support your own opinion but to determine the facts.

(emphasis added) [363].

After receiving that instruction, jury deliberations proceeded from 10:05 a.m. until 11:48 a.m., at which time the jury advised that it had reached a decision. [365]. The jury returned to the courtroom, and the designated jury foreperson declared a verdict of \$7,500 in compensatory damages and \$75,000 in punitive damages. [368]. This decision was reflected on a signed Verdict Form. [377-378]. Neither side requested a polling of the jury. [368, 513].

On December 16, 2022 at 3:20 a.m., Juror #12 sent an e-mail to the trial judge's chambers which read:

I did not agree on any of the decisions that was [sic] presented to me during the deliberations on the Civil Case trial that I had served on as a Juror on December 12, 2022. My recollection from your "Instructions" is that as Jurors we were suppose [sic] to agree on all terms unanimously.

[379]. On December 19, 2022, the Court contacted parties to inform them that one of the discharged jurors had contacted Chambers. The Court notified all trial counsel of this electronic communication. [380].

The revelation served as one of several bases for Kelecha's *pro se* Motion to Vacate Judgment and for a New Trial filed on January 10, 2023. [380-384]. On January 17, 2023, Defendant filed a supplemental Brief in Support of New Trial, through counsel, requesting that the judgment be vacated, and a new trial granted, based in part on the post-trial communication from the juror. [385-393]. Menghesha filed an Opposition on January 23, 2023. [394-401]. Kelecha then filed a Reply. [402-407]. With leave of Court, Menghesha filed a Surreply [408-428] and Kelecha filed a Sur-Surreply. [429-436].

On July 25, 2023, Judge Dayson issued a written Opinion in which she found: "that the juror's note to the Court following the jury's discharge does not warrant a new trial on its own, but rather, compels the Court to hold a hearing to determine the meaning of the juror's note." [437-452]. In support of that decision, the Court cited *United States v. Stover*, 329 F.3d 859, 864 (D.C. Cir. 2003), quoting

United States v. Wilson, 534 F.2d 375, 349 (D.C. Cir. 1976)): "[w]hen confronted with allegations of irregularity in the jury's proceedings, the trial judge has broad discretion to determine what manner of hearing, if any, is warranted."

The Court's Order clearly stated that, in the course of that hearing, it did not "intend to inquire as to the impressions of the jurors or other aspect of deliberations." [451]. Such actions would run afoul of the general proposing that a jury verdict should not be impeached by post-trial evidence. Rather, the Court stated that:

[d]uring the hearing, the Court will conduct an extremely limited inquiry to ascertain whether the juror voted in assent with the announced verdict. This is in accordance with the 2016 amendments to Fed. R. Ev. 606(b), which allows the inquiry into "the verdict's accuracy" but not the mental processes that underly the verdict.

[451-452]. The Court then set a remote status hearing to discuss the particulars of such a hearing, and held its decision on Kelecha's Motion for New Trial and to Vacate Judgment in abeyance pending resolution of the issue of the post-verdict juror's note.

Menghesa then filed a Motion to Reconsider the Court's July 25, 2023 Order, and filed an Amended Motion on August 8, 2023. [453-463]. Kelecha filed an Opposition thereto on August 25, 2023. [464-471]. Menghesha filed a Reply on August 31, 2023. [472-474].

The parties appeared before the Court for a status conference on October 4, 2023. The focal point of that hearing was to seek guidance from the parties as to the nature and extent of the questioning of Juror #12. The trial judge determined that only the existence of a clerical error under Fed. R. Ev. 606(b)(3) would justify questioning Juror #12:

THE COURT: in reviewing this motion to reconsider, I really sat down — and tried to figure out, okay, how do I ask this question that's consistent as you say, consistent with my order, that says that recognizes I can't get into the substance of deliberation, and I can 't get into sort of the thought process that went into each of the jurors' minds? And the only question I could come up with is, was this a clerical error? Because that's the only exception that this would possibly fit into. ...

There are three sort of answers to that. If the answer is yes, this is a clerical error, then I think that sort of begs the question, what comes next. But at least it sort of is within what the case law says I can inquire into. If the answer is ... no, it wasn't a clerical error, then I suppose that ends the inquiry, because I would say, okay, it's not a clerical error, which means I can't go any further. That would I can't go any further. Because if it's not a clerical error, then there's I can't inquire further, as everyone has acknowledged. Because that would get into the basically the deliberations of the jury. And if the ... other answer is, I don't know what that means ... again, it's — it would be very difficult to talk about it without getting into the issues of deliberations.

[482-483] (emphasis added).

As expected, the parties took contradictory positions in response to the Court's inquiry. Kelecha maintained that simply asking Juror #12 whether her vote was consistent with the reported verdict would be appropriate and determinative. [485-486]. Menghesha asserted that such post-verdict juror testimony would be inadmissible, because it does not provide insight as to whether the reporting of the jury verdict was a clerical error. [486-487].

The Court decided to give Kelecha an opportunity to fashion an appropriate inquiry to Jury #12, and set a status hearing for October 16, 2023. [493-495]. At that hearing, the Court considered the following voir dire proposed by Kelecha's counsel:

1. Near the end of your jury deliberations on December 14th, 2023 [sic], did the foreperson take or request from you, the jurors, a vote on the amount of general damages to be awarded referring to the award of \$7,500?

If the answer to question 1 is yes, how did the foreperson ask you to express your vote in the amount of general damages?

Was it a hand vote or oral vote?

How, if at all, did you express to the foreperson your vote on general damages to be awarded?

If the answer is no, as a juror, were you not asked to take vote on the general damages to be awarded?

2. Near the end of your jury deliberations on December 14th, 2023 [sic], did the foreperson take a request from the

jurors a vote on the amount of punitive damages to be awarded referring to the award of \$75,000?

If the answer to question 2 is yes, how did the foreperson ask you to express your vote in the amount of punitive damages?

Was it a hand vote or oral vote?

How, if at all, did you express to the foreperson your vote on punitive damages to be awarded?

If the answer is no, as a juror, were you not asked to take vote on the punitive damages to be awarded?

[508-509].

The trial court rejected this proposed voir dire for the following reasons:

"[t]he way that you' re proposing it is that the exception would swallow the rule against inquiring into the deliberative process." [510]

"[I]t just seems to me that really the proposals here kind of illustrate why this post—inquiry is probably improper." [512]

[I]t does not seem to me that it is expressed in a way that can be most reasonably read as a clerical rather than a disagreement with the verdict. And that any sort of post—trial inquiry at this point would run contrary to the prohibition the general prohibition against post—trial inquiry into the deliberative process. And again, given the fact that this does not appear to be reporting a clerical error, it's not as if he said that's not the amount I wanted, that's a different that's a different number than we talked about or something like that, this does seem to be more

reasonably interpreted single juror seeking to impeach the verdict. [514]

In reaching its decision, the Court cited *Queen v. D.C. Transit System, Inc.*, 364 A.2d 145 (D.C App. 1976), which relied on *Leonard's of Plainfield v. Dybas*, 130 N.J.L. 135, 31 A.2d 496, 497 (Sup. Ct. 1943) for the proposition that the verdict is final when it is read in open court, or, if polling is requested and conducted, at the end of the poll.

Accordingly, Judge Dayson granted Menghesha's Motion for Reconsideration and denied Kelecha's Motion for New Trial. [519]. This was memorialized in a written Order dated October 16, 2023. [521]. Kelecha filed a Notice of Appeal on November 15, 2023. [539-557].

On November 14, 2023, Kelecha filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the October 16, 2023 Order. [522-528]. On November 9, 2023, Menghesha filed her Opposition. [529-530]. On December 6, 2023, Kelecha filed a Reply. [531-532]. On March 28, 2024, the trial court denied that motion. [532-538].

Statement of Facts

Sara Menghesha rented a furnished room in a building owned by Asegedech Kelecha located at 2013 4th Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. commencing on February 15, 2019 on a month-to month basis. [139]. The room came equipped with a bed, a desk, a chair and a closet. [239]. All utilities were included with the monthly rent. [239]. The parties agreed to a reduced monthly rental rate of \$450, with the

understanding that the monthly rent would be raised to \$500 once Menghesha obtained employment. [138, 240-241]. Under the terms of her lease, Menghesha was entitled to access to a ground floor kitchen shared by four cotenants. [139-140]. Kelecha used one room of the building as an office. [238].

Menghesha kept a small amount of personal property in her rented room: her clothing, shoes, a computer, her bankbook and three refills for her an asthma inhaler. [143-147, 172, 223].

While Menghesha was her tenant, Kelecha assisted her with her job search and online employment applications. She also drove Menghesha to and from the D.C. Department of Motor Vehicles to obtain a government identification card, and waited with her all day for it to be processed. [241-242].

Menghesha obtained gainful employment in June of 2019. [13:46]. In accordance with their initial lease discussion, Kelecha asked Menghesha to begin paying her \$500 per month. [246-247]. Menghesha responded: "I'm not paying \$500. I'm going to move out." [247]. But she did not move out, and continued to pay \$450 rather than \$500 per month. [247].

On January 27, 2020, Kelecha gave Menghesha written notice that she wished to terminate Menghesha's lease in thirty (30) days. [248-249, 277-278,131]. In response, Menghesha told Kelecha that she intended to move out of her rented room by the end of February 2020. [249-250].

On March 1, 2020, Menghesha sent a text message to Asegedech on March 1, 2020, requesting to pay her March 2020 rent. [86]. Kelecha sent a reply text stating: "We will give you back the deposit and for you to leave." [88-90, 154].

Menghesha testified that she attempted to pay \$450 for her March 2020 rent on March 2, 2020. [153-154]. She followed-up with another text message on March 4, 2020 advising that she had placed her monthly rent check under Kelecha's office door. [155]. After Kelecha returned the check, Menghesha went to the post office and mailed it to her. [155]. On March 4, 2020, Kelecha texted Menghesha, advising her that she did not want the check and that she wanted Menghesha to move out. [887-90, 156]. Menghesha responded by advising Kelecha that she would move out once winter was over. [157]. Menghesha testified that she would be unable to move as planned because she could not find substitute lodging. [198].

The parties continued to exchange text messages between March 26 and April 2, 2020. [158, 282-285; 98-102]. In those communications, Kelecha advised Menghesha that she was giving her thirty (30) days' notice to leave. Mengesha objected, asserting her legal rights as a District of Columbia tenant, demanding "a legal document from court." [160-161, 102].

On April 1, 2020, Kelecha sent a second Notice to Quit to Menghesha. [217, 251-254, 285-286, 132]. Menghesha asserted that she sent a text to Kelecha on April 2, 2020 at 11:06 a.m. in which she asserted that (a) she was a lawful tenant that was

paying monthly rent, (b) that she had nowhere else to live and (c) that she was entitled to a court document before she could be evicted. Kelecha testified that she did not receive that text. [288].

During the month of April 2020, Menghesha took work as a part-time caretaker for an elderly gentleman. The job required Menghesha to stay overnight with him. In the morning, she would return to her rented apartment, eat breakfast, take a shower and sleep, and then leave. [140-142]. Menghesha estimated that she spent a total of two hours per day in the apartment in April of 2020. [211]. She had no recollection of Kelecha being in her office during the month of April 2020 due to the Covid-19 lockdown. [143].

As of the beginning of April 2020, Kelecha did not observe Menghesha entering, using or leaving the apartment at any time. Kelecha therefore assumed that Menghesha had terminated her month-to month tenancy. Despite the fact that there were eight other tenants living in the building four of which lived on the ground floor where Menghesha's room was located, she did not present any of those tenants as corroborating witnesses to establish her occupancy of her apartment in April of 2020. The record is devoid of any proof of an effort by Menghesha to deliver an April 2020 rent check to Kelecha, by simply walking upstairs and placing her rent check on or under the door of Kelecha's office. Equally absent is any written note or text from Menghesha to Kelecha after April 2, 2020.

Menghesha testified that, due to Covid-19, Kelecha did not come to her office in the building in April, and only came to collect rent. [212]. In stark contrast, Kelecha testified that she was in her office from 9:00 a.m. until 5:00 or 6:00 p.m. "[m]ost days including even weekends." [256]. Kelecha did not see Menghesha at any time during the month of April 2020, and therefore assumed that she had terminated her tenancy and moved out. [257].

As someone that had been a landlord in the District of Columbia for twenty years, Kelecha was aware of the fact that she was obliged to obtain a Court Order to change the locks to a rental unit under lease. [274, 280]. She sent no such notice to Menghesha before changing locks because she concluded that Menghesha had concluded her lease and moved out.

On May 1, 2020, as was her custom at the conclusion of a tenancy, Kelecha changed the locks to the front door of the building and an inside door to the ground level apartments. [197, 258, 280]. Kelecha collected a small box of items left in Menghesha's former rented room, which she assumed to have been abandoned by Menghesha. She placed that box in the locked trunk of a vehicle for safekeeping, rather than trashing them, in case her former tenant returned to retrieve those items. [260-261, 281].

When Menghesha arrived at 2013 4th Street, N.E. on May 1, 2020 at around 5:00 to 5:15 p.m. she discovered that the front door locks had been changed and that

she could not obtain access, and that her belongings had been placed in storage. [165-167]. Menghesha asserted that she attempted to contact her landlord twice by telephone without success. [168]. She made no effort to text or e-mail Kelecha to request keys. [220]. She did not write a letter or note to Kelecha advising her that she had returned and wanted new keys [221]. Kelecha maintained that she received no telephone calls, voicemails or text messages from Menghesha requesting a new set of front door keys or access to her rented room or the personal property located therein. [263-264, 268-269].

Rather than communicating with Kelecha, Menghesha contacted the Washington Metropolitan Police. Because this was a civil matter, the responding officers made no attempt to relate Menghesha's concerns to Kelecha. [168-169]. On May 2, 2020, Menghesa went to the police station, where she was advised that "there is a judge that can hear your case." [170].

Initially, Menghesha was able to spend the night at her temporary job location from May 1-3, 2020. [171]. During the day she went to Habesha (northern Ethiopian) restaurants and rode busses around the District of Columbia to say warm and to have shelter. [170-172].

The temporary caretaker job and the option of sleeping at the family member's house ended. She asserted that she could not pay for a hotel room because her

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