No. 23-CV-976



# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 11/18/2024 11:50 PM Resubmitted 11/19/2024 07:19 AM Filed 11/18/2024 07:19 AM

# **ASEGEDECH KELECHA**

# Appellant

v.

# SARA MENGHESHA

Appellee

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA (Judge Danya Dayson)

## **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

Marc Borbely (D.C. Bar #489871) D.C. Tenants' Rights Center 1115 Massachusetts Ave. NW, Suite 300 Washington, DC 20005 Tel: (202) 270-9843 borbely@dctenants.com

Counsel for Appellee Menghesha

# PARTIES AND THEIR COUNSEL (PAST AND PRESENT)

# <u>Plaintiff</u>

Sara Menghesha

# Counsel for Plaintiff

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

all reasonable inferences that can be drawn therefrom are so one-sided that reasonable men and women could not have reached a verdict in plaintiff's favor." *Id.* at 286. The appellate court then ruled on the merits of the argument that had been made in the defendant's 50(a) motion, but declined to even consider the argument that had been raised for the first time in the 50(b) motion to the trial court post-verdict, because the defendant "failed to preserve [that] argument, and such a failure generally precludes appellate review." *Id.* at 288.

In *Molovinsky*, the Court held that Mr. Molovinsky waived an argument that there was insufficient evidence to support punitive damages, where Mr. Molovinsky did not make a motion for judgment as a matter of law before the close of evidence. (The Court also held that Mr. Molovinsky waived arguments that there was insufficient evidence that Mr. Molovinsky's company was an "employment agency" and that his conduct was a "discriminatory practice," under applicable law, because Mr. Molovinsky had not renewed his motion for judgment as a matter of law, on those issues, as required by the rule.)

In *District of Columbia v. Hickey*, 150 A.2d 463 (D.C. 1959), the Court held that the parties' failure to request directed verdicts at the close of the evidence precluded the parties from arguing insufficiency of evidence on appeal. In *Daka, Inc. v. McCrae*, 839 A.2d 682, 691 (D.C. 2003), the Court rejected Daka's argument that there was insufficient evidence to support any damages.

21

("We reject this argument for the reason alone that Daka has not preserved it."). See also *Iron Vine Sec., LLC v. Cygnacom Sols., Inc.*, 274 A.3d 328, 339 (D.C. 2022) ("challenges not included in Iron Vine's and Second Factor's Rule 50(a) motions are unreviewable.)

For over 70 years it has been settled that an "appellate court [is] without power to direct the District Court to enter judgment contrary to the one it had permitted to stand" based on the insufficiency of the evidence, unless the party challenging the judgment made a Rule 50(b) post-trial motion. *Cone v. W. Va.* Pulp & Paper Co., 330 U.S. 212, 218 (1947). The Supreme Court held that the type of relief Defendant seeks here "calls for the judgment in the first instance of the judge who saw and heard the witnesses and has the feel of the case which no appellate printed transcript can impart." Id. at 216. This is the rule because of the trial judge's opportunity, having heard all testimony, "to view the proceedings in a perspective peculiarly available to him alone." Absent a motion to the trial court, giving the trial court with its unique perspective "first crack at the question" of the sufficiency of evidence, "an appellate court is powerless to review the sufficiency of the evidence after trial." Dupree v. Younger, 598 U.S. 729, 734 (2023).

In none of her many post-trial filings did Defendant ever challenge the submission of punitive damages to the jury, nor mention any possible Constitutional challenge to the amount of damages awarded. As a matter of law, the issues of insufficient evidence for punitive damages, and excessive punitive damages, have been waived.

Far from preserving her right to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence by moving to prevent the jury from ever being asked about punitive damages, Defendant, via counsel, worked with Plaintiff's counsel and the trial court on the wording of the punitive damages questions on the verdict sheet [324]. She *participated* in asking the jury to consider whether the evidence supported an award of punitive damages. She never filed a Rule 50(b) motion to renew any request for judgment as a matter of law, because there was nothing to renew. So unlike the losing party in *Campbell* (who preserved one of his theories), she has no right to appellate review on these issues.

Defendant never gave the trial court an opportunity to decide on her argument that it should not have submitted punitive damages to the jury. It is beyond this Court's review.<sup>6</sup>

# <u>Defendant Has Also Waived Her Claim</u> <u>That the Punitive Damages Award Was Excessive</u>

Since 1987, this Court has repeatedly held that the District follows the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In a footnote (Appellant's Brief at 35, note 6), Defendant suggests that "plain error" review might still be appropriate. However, there is no "plain error" exception to the rule that failure to make Rule 50 motions constitutes a waiver of arguments and precludes appellate review. *Iron Vine Sec., LLC v. Cygnacom Sols., Inc.,* 274 A.3d 328, 339 n.13 (D.C. 2022). Even if there were, there are no "exceptional" circumstances here that would justify such review.

example of other Courts of Appeal: "where relief from a verdict is desired on the ground that the damages awarded by the verdict are inadequate or excessive, a motion for a new trial is necessary to raise these matters and preserve them for appeal," and when a disappointed party fails to afford the trial court "the opportunity to pass on" the claim, this Court lacks jurisdiction. *Keener v. Karr*, 528 A.2d 1236, 1237 (D.C. 1987). This Court cited *Keener* in 2007, when it upheld a verdict awarding a wrongfully evicted tenant \$11,826 in compensatory and \$100,000 in punitive damages. *Oliver v. Mustafa*, 929 A.2d 873 (D.C. 2007). The case proceeded similarly to this one, and ended as this one should:

[W]e decline to address Ms. Oliver's arguments that the punitive damages were excessive, not supported by the evidence, and in violation of her due process rights under the Fifth Amendment. Though Judge Ross gave Ms. Oliver thirty days to file post-trial motions, she filed none. This court will not review a verdict for inadequate or excessive damages unless such arguments were made to the trial court in post-trial motions.

Id. at 879, citing Keener, supra. See also Upton v. Henderer, 969 A.2d 252, 253

(D.C. 2009).

Defendant is challenging the trial court's submission of punitive damages to the jury, arguing that the record lacks clear and convincing evidence of her malice. But Defendant lost her chance to make this argument the moment the case was first *submitted* to the jury.

Defendant's argument that the record did not contain enough evidence of her malice for the question of punitive damages to be submitted to the jury has been waived and is not properly before this Court.

Defendant made no motion for judgment as a matter of law before or after the case was submitted to the jury.

# III. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT THE PUNITIVE DAMAGES AWARD.

In the alternative, Plaintiff submits that the record did, in fact, contain plenty of evidence supporting a punitive damages award.

The jury heard from Plaintiff that Defendant asked Plaintiff and her

roommates to move out. (12/13/22 Tr. at 17 line 25.) The tenants told her it was

winter. (12/13/22 Tr. at 18 line 2.) "And she said I'm giving you two months to

move out. And then the pandemic hit." (12/13/22 Tr. at 18 line 3.) "She asked us

to -- to pay \$50 more and we told her that this is Corona time, we cannot do that.

And we told her that the D.C. law also doesn't to allow that. Then she asked all of

us to move out." (12/13/22 Tr. at 18 line 5.)

The lockout occurred on May 1, 2020.

She testified as follows, on cross-examination:

Q: When you arrived the evening of May 1st, 2020, you tried your key and it didn't work, correct?

A: Correct, yes.

Q: Okay. And you didn't submit any evidence or text or e-mail indicating that you requested a copy of the key, did you, that day?

A I did not. It's because I was calling her repeatedly. To be locked out of your house, at the time when there was Corona, was very stressful. So, I repeatedly called her and I was outside the house.

Q But you didn't talk to her, correct?

A She did not answer my call, but I would leave her voice message asking her to please open up the door, open the -- because I was locked outside. Q You then decided to call the D.C. police. Do you recall the reason you called the D.C. police and what you might have -- do you recall what you told them when you called?

A Yes, I do. I told them that I was a legal tenant, that I had been a legal tenant for more than one year, that I paid my rent on time, but that the landlord changed the locks.

Q And the police showed up, correct?

A Yes, they did.

Q You spoke with the police at that time, correct?

A Yes. I spoke to them like what I just stated.

Q And then the police left. And then, at that time, you left, correct?

A They came and they asked me to call her in front of them, and I called her twice. She did not pick. Then they said let's give her some time. Then they waited for me for quite some time. Then they called her themselves, but she did not pick. Then they left.

Also, on redirect:

Q: You said you called Ms. Kelecha several times, left her messages on

May 1st, 2020. Did she ever call you back?

A She did not.

(12/13/22 Tr. at 28 line 4.)

During March and April 2020, Plaintiff and Defendant exchanged multiple

texts related to a lack of heat in the unit, and related to Defendant not accepting

Plaintiff's rent for April. (12/13/22 Tr. at 81 line 16 to 88 line 17.)

Defendant gave Plaintiff a notice on April 1, 2020 [98] that read, in part, as follows, translated into English:

<sup>(12/13/22</sup> Tr. at 19 line 25.)

Now I'm giving you a 30-days notice to vacate, the last notice to vacate. Other than your clothing and some items, the rest of the furniture are mine. So, I will respectfully ask you to vacate by April 30, 2020 and find another place. And after that, I'm intending to change the keys to the outer – the front door as well as to your room. And I am asking you to be understanding of -- of that.

(12/13/22 Tr. at 53 line 2.)

Defendant's version of the events on May 1, after she changed the locks: Plaintiff never called her. "No text, no voice mail, no missed calls." (12/13/22 Tr. at 6, line 2.)

Defendant also testified that if Plaintiff had contacted her and asked her for a key, she would have given it to her. (12/13/22 Tr. at 67, lines 1-8.) But she also then admitted that when the parties were at a TRO hearing a few days after the lockout, she and her attorney opposed Plaintiff's request for a Temporary Restraining Order. (12/13/22 Tr. at 111, lines 5-10.)

The jury had enough evidence before it to determine that Defendant did in fact change the locks to evict Plaintiff, as she had said she would do, and that Plaintiff did in fact call her many times on May 1 after the lockout, but Defendant ignored her calls.

Plaintiff's counsel summarized these facts in his closing argument (Trial Transcript 12/13/24 at 138-149).

Malice "need not (and usually cannot) be proven by direct evidence, but may be inferred from all the facts and circumstances of the case." *Robinson v*.

Sarisky, 535 A.2d 901, 906 (D.C. 1998). See also Jemison v. National Baptist Convention, U.S.A., Inc., 720 A.2d 275, 285-286 (D.C. 1998) ("The finder of fact can infer the requisite state of mind from the surrounding circumstances").

Defendant presented a different view of events: she claimed "that she mistakenly believed that her tenant had voluntarily and deliberately terminated her tenancy." (Brief at 30). In arguing that there was no clear and convincing evidence supporting the submission of punitive damages to the jury, she claims that "[t]here was undisputed evidence presented at trial to support the Defendant's version of facts"-- specifically, her testimony that "if [Plaintiff] had asked [her] for a key, [she] would have given it to her" [303]. But describing this testimony as a presentation of 'undisputed evidence' pushes the boundary of candor to this tribunal. The point was strongly disputed—to the apparent satisfaction of the jury-when Defendant's testimony was thoroughly impeached, spanning twelve pages of transcript [302-313]. The jury heard that, in fact, Plaintiff did ask for a key: she filed an emergency motion seeking a TRO to let her back into her home. A reasonable person who had made an honest mistake, sincerely believing that their tenant had voluntarily moved out, would have been appalled to learn of an emergency motion for a TRO seeking to be let back into the property.

Instead, as Plaintiff pointed out, Defendant appeared at the TRO hearing. [303- 304] Mr. Schimel (who appeared at the TRO hearing, and who is once again

representing her on this appeal) strongly opposed Plaintiff's motion on Defendant's behalf. Defendant heard everything Mr. Schimel said, and Mr. Schimel presented several details that he apparently learned from Defendant: he said that Defendant had shown him a copy of a Notice to Quit she had sent Plaintiff [30], he demonstrated some knowledge of the layout of the home [31], and he articulated the nature of Defendant's grievances against Plaintiff. [31-32]. And Defendant certainly seemed closely aligned with Mr. Schimel at that hearing. She was sworn in, and testified that she agreed with everything he had said. [38]. And when she realized that Mr. Schimel's opposition to the TRO was unsuccessful, she interrupted the deputy clerk's attempt to schedule the next hearing and inveighed against giving Plaintiff a key until she was quelled by the judge: "...Ms. Kelecha, I'm sorry. I explained to you, I'm sorry that you don't accept my explanation. I accept that you disagree with my explanation. Okay, I accept that you disagree with me and that's fine." [46-47]. This in particular following the rest of the TRO hearing—cannot be credibly squared with Defendant's sworn testimony at trial that she would have given Plaintiff a key [305].

The trial court instructed the jury: "You have heard evidence that a witness in this case made an earlier statement under oath subject to the penalty of perjury at a hearing and that this statement may be inconsistent with her testimony here at trial... If you find that the earlier statement is inconsistent with the witness' testimony here in court, you may consider this inconsistency in judging the credibility of the witness." [331-332]. The jury had ample record evidence on which they could reasonably have concluded that when Defendant described the lockout as having been an innocent mistake, she was lying.

## IV. THE PUNITIVE DAMAGES AWARD WAS NOT EXCESSIVE

Also, although Defendant waived her right to contest this issue, the magnitude of the punitive damages award is by no means 'clearly prejudicial' to her 'substantive rights.' This Court has affirmed a punitive damages award of \$42,677.50, where \$1 of compensatory damages were awarded. *Howard Univ. v. Wilkins*, 22 A.3d 774 (D.C. 2011) (identifying circumstances justifying great disparities in punitive versus compensatory damages). The question of punitive damages was submitted to the jury with Defendant's consent and active participation, after her testimony seeking to prove her intent was resoundingly impeached using her own prior inconsistent statements. And the resulting award of \$75,000 used a ratio comparable to the upheld award in *Oliver v. Mustafa*, *supra*, and a far less extreme ratio than the upheld award in *Wilkins*.

In *Oliver*, the D.C. Court of Appeals followed *Keener*. Mr. Mustafa was awarded \$11,826 in compensatory damages and \$100,000 in punitive damages, due to his wrongful eviction and breach of contract claims. The claim, amount,

30

and ratio of punitive to compensatory damages, and the appellant's failure to challenge the amount or the ratio in any filing with the trial court, followed by a Constitutional challenge raised for the first time on appeal, are all strikingly similar to the facts of the instant case. This Court affirmed the verdict there, as it should here.

Appellant's Brief acknowledges this issue as well, noting that because she is challenging the punitive damage award for the first time on appeal, she cannot be heard unless her case raises the 'exceptional situation' of a 'clear miscarriage of justice' caused by an 'obvious' error that 'jeopardizes the very fairness and integrity' of the trial. Appellant's Brief at 35, fn 6. Her argument that she has presented such a case is, quoted in its entirety: "This is such a case." *Id*.

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